
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. __________________

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado non-profit Corporation,
BEATRICE DE LEON, and
DAVID ABEYTA,

Plaintiffs,

v.

ANTHONY M. FICCO & LOUIS FICCO, d/b/a FICCO AND FICCO,
ANTHONY FICCO,
LOUIS FICCO, and
DELORES LOWERY

Defendants.
                                                                                                                                                      

 COMPLAINT
                                                                                                                                                      

Plaintiffs, Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition, Beatrice De Leon and David Abeyta, by

and through their attorneys, Kevin W. Williams and Carrie Ann Lucas of the Colorado Cross-

Disability Coalition Legal Program, hereby submit this Complaint for violations of the Fair

Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq.

INTRODUCTION

1. The federal Fair Housing Act was amended in 1988 to include inter alia

prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of disability.1

1 The Fair Housing Act still uses the word “handicap,” a term that is now viewed
with disfavor among many disability rights advocates.  For purposes of this complaint, the word
“disability” is used to mean “handicap” as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 3602(h).  Where either word is
used, the word is intended to have the same definition.
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2. Under the Fair Housing Act, it is unlawful:

 “[t]o discriminate in the sale or rental, or to otherwise make unavailable or deny, a
dwelling to any buyer or renter because of a [disability] of . . . that buyer or renter, . . . a
person residing in or intending to reside in that dwelling after it is so . . . rented, or made
available; or . . . any person associated with that buyer or renter.”  

42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(1).

3. The legislative history of the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988, which

added disability to the protected classes against which discrimination is unlawful under the Fair

Housing Act, states that the amendments represented

a clear pronouncement of a national commitment to end the unnecessary exclusion of
persons with handicaps from the American mainstream.  It repudiates the use of
stereotypes and ignorance, and mandates that persons with handicaps be considered as
individuals.  Generalized perceptions about disabilities and unfounded speculations about
threats to safety are specifically rejected as grounds to justify exclusion.

H.R. Report 100-711, at 18 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2173, 2179.

4. Over twenty years after Congress prohibited disability discrimination in housing,

defendants, Anthony and Louis Ficco, the owners and operators of Morning Side Retirement

Community, and their sales agent, Delores Lowery, still refuse to rent apartments to individuals

on the basis of disability.

5. Defendants deny housing to individuals based on outdated and unfounded

assumptions about the individuals’ abilities to live “independently.”

6. Not only did defendants deny housing to plaintiffs on the basis of disability as set

forth in this complaint, defendants unlawfully and without the consent of plaintiffs investigated

private medical information about plaintiff David Abeyta.
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7. Finally, when plaintiffs filed a complaint with the Colorado Civil Rights Division

(“CCRD”), the CCRD ignored the Fair Housing Act and court decisions interpreting it and

decided that defendants’ actions were not in violation of the law.

8. Plaintiffs seek a declaration from this Court that defendants’ actions violated their

civil rights, an injunction compelling defendants to stop discriminating against them on the basis

of disability, monetary damages and recovery of their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

JURISDICTION

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343.

10. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

PARTIES

11. Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) is a Colorado non-profit

corporation whose members are persons with disabilities and their non-disabled allies.

12. Plaintiff Beatrice De Leon is seventy-six years old, has macular degeneration and

other impairments that substantially limit major life activities, including without limitation, the

major life activity of seeing.  Ms. De Leon was at all times material hereto a resident of

Colorado.  Ms. De Leon is a CCDC member.  Ms. De Leon is plaintiff David Abeyta’s sister.

13. Plaintiff David Abeyta is sixty-nine years old, has Parkinson’s disease and other

impairments and is substantially limited in several major life activities, including walking.  Mr.

Abeyta is and was at all times material hereto a resident of Colorado.  Mr. Abeyta is a CCDC

member.  Mr. Abeyta is plaintiff De Leon’s brother.
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14. Defendant Anthony M. Ficco is a part owner of a business, defendant Ficco &

Ficco, which owns and operates Morning Side Retirement Community, located at 3650 Vance

Street, Wheat Ridge, CO 80033.  On information and belief, defendant Anthony M. Ficco was at

all times material hereto a resident of the state of Colorado.  Defendant Ficco co-owns the

business Ficco & Ficco with his brother, defendant Louis Ficco.

15. Defendant Louis Ficco is a part owner of a business, defendant Ficco & Ficco,

which owns and operates Morning Side Retirement Community, located at 3650 Vance Street,

Wheat Ridge, CO 80033.  On information and belief, defendant Ficco was at all times material

hereto a resident of the state of Colorado.  Defendant Ficco co-owns the business Ficco & Ficco

with his brother, defendant Anthony M. Ficco.

16. Defendant Ficco & Ficco is a trade name for a business owned by defendants

Anthony M. Ficco and Louis Ficco, with its principal place of business at 12425 W 38th Avenue,

Wheat Ridge, Co 80033-3840.  The Ficco brothers, doing business as Ficco & Ficco, own and

operate Morning Side Retirement Community, located at 3650 Vance Street, Wheat Ridge, CO

80333.

17. Defendant Delores Lowery was at all material times hereto the leasing agent for

Morning Side Retirement Community, located at 3650 Vance Street, Wheatridge, CO 80333.  

On information and belief, defendant Lowery was at all times material hereto a resident of the

state of Colorado.  On information and belief, at all times material hereto, defendant Lowery was

acting as an agent for defendants Anthony M. Ficco, Louis Ficco and/or defendant Ficco &

Ficco.
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

18. In or about June of 2008, plaintiffs De Leon and Abeyta wanted to rent an

apartment at Morning Side Retirement Community.  Previously, plaintiffs De Leon and Abeyta

had resided together in a home they rented, but, on June 9, 2008, they were suddenly evicted

when they discovered the owners of that home had failed to pay the mortgage, and the house

went into foreclosure.  They were given no notice of the foreclosure or eviction and needed to

find housing quickly.

19. Plaintiffs De Leon and Abeyta lived independently in the home referenced in

paragraph 18 with the assistance of home health care attendants for plaintiff Abeyta.  Plaintiff De

Leon also provided some assistance for plaintiff Abeyta.  Plaintiff De Leon does not require the

assistance of home health care attendants.

20. After their sudden displacement from this home, plaintiff De Leon moved into a

motel with her daughter, and plaintiff Abeyta, who used home health care services, moved into

Sandalwood Manor, a skilled care nursing facility, at the recommendation of his caseworker

with Jefferson County Long Term Care, for temporary residence until he could find housing

again.

21. On or about Sunday, June 15, 2008, plaintiff De Leon’s daughter, Lori Herrera,

called Morning Side Retirement Community to inquire about renting an apartment for her

mother and uncle.  She spoke to defendant Delores Lowery.  Defendant Lowery said apartments

were available.  During this call, Ms. Herrera mentioned her uncle had Parkinson’s disease and

disclosed to defendant Lowery some of the information provided in paragraphs 18-20 above.
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22. Plaintiff De Leon and her son went to Morning Side Retirement Community to

look at an apartment.  When plaintiff De Leon and her son went to look at an apartment, they

met with defendant Lowery who, on information and belief, overheard plaintiff De Leon and her

son discussing plaintiff Abeyta’s use of a walker and that he currently resided at Sandalwood

Manor nursing facility.

23. Plaintiffs told defendant Lowery they would take the apartment that was

available.  Plaintiff De Leon possessed a Section 8 voucher, and defendants accepted Section 8

vouchers.  The Section 8 Rental Voucher Program is authorized by the U.S. Housing Act of

1937, Section 8(b) (1) for existing housing and Section 8(o) for vouchers.  Regulations

governing Section 8 vouchers are found in 24 C.F.R. Part 982.  Ms. Herrera said she would

contact the Lakewood Housing Authority to get the Section 8 paperwork approval process

started for renting the apartment at Morning Side Retirement Community.

24. When plaintiff De Leon and her son went to look at an apartment at Morning Side

Retirement Community, they met with defendant Lowery who, on information and belief,

overheard plaintiff De Leon and her son discussing plaintiff Abeyta’s use of a walker and that he

currently resided at Sandalwood Manor nursing facility.

25. Defendant Lowery expressed concerns to Ms. Herrera about plaintiff De Leon’s

ability to care for herself or for her brother because of De Leon’s visual impairment.  Defendant

Lowery raised several concerns about “safety” because of plaintiff De Leon’s visual impairment

and whether she could “efficiently” care for her brother.  Ms. Herrera explained that her uncle
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uses attendant care at home, but defendant Lowery expressed concerns about what would happen

if these persons did not show up.

26. Based on the concerns Defendant Lowery expressed, she told Ms. Herrera she

would not rent the apartment to plaintiffs De Leon and Abeyta.  When Ms. Herrera said Ms.

Lowery’s refusal to rent was discriminatory, plaintiff Lowery invited Ms. Herrera to contact the

owners of Morning Side Retirement Community.

27. Ms. Herrera called one of the owners of Morning Side Retirement Community,

defendant Anthony Ficco.  Defendant Anthony Ficco told Ms. Herrera the owners would not rent

to her mother and uncle because of their disabilities.

28. Defendant Lowery called Sandalwood Manor, the nursing facility where plaintiff

Abeyta was staying and spoke to a person in medical records about Mr. Abeyta’s stay there. 

Defendant Lowery did not have permission or a release from plaintiff Abeyta to contact the

nursing facility.

29. Without the permission, knowledge, approval or consent of plaintiff Abeyta,

Defendant Anthony Ficco went to Sandalwood Manor and made inquiries about Mr. Abeyta’s

health and physical condition.  On information and belief, defendant Ficco received information

from Sandalwood Manor staff.

30. Based on defendants’ assessment of plaintiffs’ physical disabilities, defendants

refused to rent to them.

31. Defendants believed that plaintiff Abeyta could not live independently because of

his disabilities and based the decision not to rent to plaintiffs on that belief.
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32. Defendants also based their decision not to rent to plaintiffs based on perceptions

of plaintiff De Leon’s abilities due to her visual impairment.

33. Defendants refused housing to plaintiffs because they believed erroneously that

plaintiff Abeyta because of his disabilities needed services defendants do not provide.

34. Defendants have a discriminatory policy in place or engage in discriminatory

practices that required plaintiffs to prove they can “live independently” before defendants will

rent an apartment to them.

35. Plaintiffs did not request nor do they need services from defendants other than

housing.

36. Plaintiffs Abeyta and De Leon can live independently, have lived independently

and do live independently.

37. Plaintiffs would like to reside at Morning Side Retirement Community if

defendants change their discriminatory policies and practices prohibiting them from living there.

38. Plaintiffs De Leon and Abeyta have suffered damages and continue to suffer

damages as a result of defendants’ discriminatory housing practices.

39. CCDC’s purpose is to work for systemic change that promotes independence,

self-reliance, and full inclusion for people with disabilities in the entire community.  As part of

that purpose, CCDC seeks to ensure that persons with disabilities have access to -- and do not

encounter discrimination in -- renting housing provided by housing communities like those

owned and operated by defendants. 
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40. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts

to promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities.  This effort and

this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by defendants’ violations of the

Fair Housing Act.

41. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable, and

perceptible injury to CCDC.  

42. CCDC has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to combating defendants’ discriminatory policies.

43. CCDC has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to counseling members and others who have been

injured by defendants’ discrimination.  

44. Defendants’ discrimination has been and continues to be a barrier to the full

participation of persons with disabilities and, therefore, frustrates CCDC’s ability to achieve full

inclusion for persons with disabilities.

45. Defendants’ actions may have deterred and could in the future deter some persons

with disabilities from attempting to rent housing at Morning Side Retirement Community.

46. Defendants’ discrimination has required and continues to require CCDC to make

a greater effort -- and to allocate significant resources -- to educate the public that such

discrimination is wrong and otherwise to counteract the adverse impact of such discrimination.  

This perceptibly impairs CCDC’s counseling, advocacy, educational, and training missions.

-9-

Case 1:09-cv-00889-JLK     Document 1      Filed 04/17/2009     Page 9 of 13



47. CCDC also has devoted and continues to devote resources -- including but not

limited to those devoted to the present lawsuit -- to identifying and counteracting the sources of

discrimination in the community, including that of defendants.

48. CCDC’s injuries -- including, without limitation, those described herein -- are

traceable to defendants’ discriminatory conduct alleged in this Complaint and will be redressed

by the relief requested in it.

49. CCDC’s members and their spouses, friends, relatives, and associates have been

injured and will continue to be injured by defendants’ discrimination. 

50. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of defendants, and the integration

of persons with disabilities into all aspects of community life are at the core of CCDC’s

organizational purpose.

51. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required

either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief.

52. Defendants acted intentionally or with reckless disregard or callous indifference

to the federally protected rights of plaintiffs.

53. CCDC has been damaged by defendants’ discriminatory housing practices as set

forth in this Complaint.

CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq.)

54. Plaintiffs incorporate all other allegations in this complaint herein.
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55. The Fair Housing Act makes it unlawful to deny housing or refuse to rent housing

to any person on the basis of disability or to any person because the person is regarded as having

a disability.  42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(1).

56. Defendants themselves and/or by and through their agents refused to rent an

apartment to plaintiffs De Leon and Abeyta because of their disabilities or perceptions about

their disabilities.

57. The Fair Housing Act makes it unlawful to discriminate against any person in the

terms, conditions, or privileges of rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities

in connection with such dwelling, because of a disability of that person or a person intending to

reside in that dwelling after it is rented.  42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(2). 

58. Defendants refused to rent an apartment to plaintiffs De Leon and Abeyta because

of their disabilities or perceived disabilities.

59. Defendants have policies or engage in practices requiring renters to prove their

ability to live independently violate the Fair Housing Act.  Defendants’ definition of

“independent living” excludes individuals with disabilities from renting housing.

60. Under the Fair Housing Act regulations, it is “unlawful to make an inquiry to

determine whether an applicant for a dwelling, a person intending to reside in that dwelling after

it is . . . rented or made available, or any person associated with that person, has a handicap or to

make inquiry as to the nature or severity of a handicap of such a person.”  24 C.F.R. §

100.202(c).
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61. Defendants Lowery and Anthony Ficco unlawfully inquired into the disability of

plaintiff David Abeyta, and defendants refused to rent to plaintiffs based on that inquiry.

62. Defendants’ discriminatory housing practices have resulted in damages to each of

the plaintiffs and, unless a favorable ruling is reached by this Court ordering to defendants to

stop their discriminatory practices, plaintiffs will continue to be harmed by defendants’ conduct

as set forth in this Complaint.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs respectfully pray:

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction.

2. That this Court find defendants’ actions to be in violation of the Fair Housing

Act.

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering defendants to comply with the Fair

Housing Act by discontinuing their discriminatory housing policies and practices and allowing

plaintiffs De Leon and Abeyta to rent an apartment at Morning Side Retirement Community.

4. That this Court award damages to plaintiffs.

5. That this Court award reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable.

JURY DEMAND: Plaintiffs demand a jury on all issues which can be heard by a jury.
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Dated: April 17, 2009 Respectfully submitted,

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION
LEGAL PROGRAM

 /s Kevin W. Williams                     
Kevin W. Williams
Carrie Ann Lucas
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
Voice: 303.839.1775
TTY: 303.839.0015
Facsimile: 303.839.1782
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org
E-mail: clucas@ccdconline.org

Address of Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition:

655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203

Address of Beatrice De Leon:

592 South Flower Street
Lakewood, CO 80226

Address of David Abeyta:

2626 Osceola Street, apt. 1203
Denver, CO 80212
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